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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

CENTRAL DISTRICT OFCALIFORNIA

CASENO. SA CV 04-00689MRP (VBKx)

ORDERGRANTING IN PART
DEFENDANT ALARIS’ MOTION FOR
FEES, COSTSAND EXPENSESUNDER
35 U.S.C.§ 285 AND GRANTING
DEFENDANT ALARIS’ MOTION FOR
SANCTIONS PURSUANT TO FED. R.
CIV. P. 11

I.

INTRODUCTION

On January22, 2007,this CourtgranteddefendantAlaris MedicalSystems,Inc.’s

(“Alaris”) motionfor summaryjudgmentof invalidity of plaintiff ICU Medical,Inc.’s (“ICU”)

“spikeless”claims,therebydismissingICU’s remainingclaims in this case. As theprevailing

party,Alaris now seeksto recoverfees,costsandexpensesunder35 U.S.C.§ 285,28 U.S.C. §
1927andtheCourt’s inherentpower. (See Alaris’ Mem. in Supp.of its Mot. for Fees,Costsand

Expensesunder35 U.S.C. § 285,28 U.S.C. § 1927 andtheCourt’s InherentPower,filed Mar. 1,

AND RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS
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1 2007 (the“FeesMotion”).) Alaris hasalsorenewedaprior motionfor sanctionsagainstI~U

2 underFederalRuleofCivil Procedure11. (See Alaris’ Mem.ofP. &. A. in Supp.of Alaijs’

3 Mot. for SanctionsPursuantto Fed.R. Civ. P. 11, filed Sep.19, 2005 andrenewedon FeR26,

4 2007(the “Rule 11 Motion”).) On March29,2007,theCourt heardoral argumentfrom the

5 partieswith respectto thesemotionsandtook themundersubmission.

6 TheCourt finds thatthiscaseis exceptionalwithin themeaningof Section285 and

7 awardsAlaris a portionof its requestedattorneyfeeson thatbasis, The Courtfinds that

8 sanctionsarealso warrantedunderRule 11 for ICU’s assertionof the“spike” claimsin its

9 amendedcomplaint,but finds that suchsanctionsaresubsumedby theCourt’s awardofattorney

10 feesunderSection285. Furthersanctionsareotherwiseinappropriateorunnecessaryunder

11 Section1927or theCourt’s inherentpower.

12

13 II.

14 DISCUSSION

15 Thefactualandproceduralbackgroundof this casehasbeendocumentedin theCourt’s

16 prior ordersandneednot berepeatedhere.’ ICU’s casehasconcludedby theCourt’sgrantof

17 Alaris’ requestfor summaryjudgmentofnoninfringementof ICU’s “spike” claimsin U.S.

18 PatentNos.5,685,866(“the ‘866 Patent”),5,873,862(“the ‘862 Patent”)and6,572,592(“the

19 ‘592 Patent”),aswell asAlaris’ requestfor summaryjudgmentof invalidity ofICU’s

20

21

22
The factualandproceduralbackgroundcanbe foundin thefollowing Court documents:

23 1) July 30, 2004OrderDenyingPlaintiffs Motion foraPreliminaryInjunctionandFindingsof Factand
Conclusionsof Law(“TRO/PI DenialFindings/Conclusions”);

24 2) July 17, 2006ClaimConstructionOrder(the “CC Order”);
3) July 17, 2006PartialSummaryJudgmentOrderfor Noninfringementof “Spike” ClaimsandAugust25,

25 2006FindingsofFactNot GenuinelyContestedandConclusionsofLaw (collectively, “SpikePSJ
Findings/Conclusions”);

26 4) Jan.22, 2007 OrderGrantingDefendantAlaris’ Motion forSummaryJudgmentofInvalidity ofPlaintiff
ICU’s “Spikeless”Claimsunder35 U.S.C. § 112 (the “SpikelessSJOrder”); and

27 5) Feb. 21, 2007 Findingsof FactNotGenuinelyContestedandConclusionsof Law in Supportof theCourt’s
1/22/2007OrderGrantingAlaris’ Motion for SummaryJudgmentof Invalidity of “Spikeless”Claims undct

28 35 U.S.C. § 112,~ 1 & 2 (“SpikelessSJ Findings/Conclusions”).

-2-
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I “spikeless”claimsin U.S. PatentNo. 6,682,509(“the ‘509 Patent”)andthe‘592 Patent.24

2 Havingprevailedin thecase,Alaris now seeksits fees,costsandexpensesunderSection2~5,

3 Section1927 andtheCourt’s inherentpowerfor thisnearlythree-yearlong litigation. Ala~ishas

4 alsorenewedaprior motionfor Rule 11 sanctionstargetingICU’s assertionofthe“spike” claims

5 in the‘866, ‘862 and‘592 Patentsin ICU’s amendedcomplaint.

6

7 A. Legal Standards

8 1. AttorncyFeesUnder35U.S.C.~285

9 Section285 ofthePatentAct authorizesthecourt to award“reasonableattorneyfeesto

10 theprevailingparty” in “exceptionalcases.” 35 U.S.C.§ 285. Such feesareawardedwhen: I) a

11 courtfinds thatthereis clearandconvincingevidencethat thecaseis exceptional;and 2) the

12 courtthenexercisesits discretionto awardfeesto theprevailingparty. SuperiorFireplaceCo.

13 v. MajesticProds.Co., 270 F.3d1358, 1376 (Fed.Cir. 2001);Sensonics,Inc. v. AerosonicCorp.,

14 81 F.3d 1566, 1574(Fed.Cir. 1996). Thepurposeofsuchan awardis to rectify, at leastin part,

15 theinjusticedoneto thedefendantcausedby litigationbroughtin badfaith; this servesto defend

16 thecourtandthejudicial systemagainstabuse.Mathis v. Spears,857 F.2d749,754 (Fed. Cir.

17 1988).

18 An exceptionalcaseoccurs“when therehasbeensomematerial inappropriateconduct

19 relatedto thematterin litigation, suchaswillful infringement,fraud or inequitableconductin

20 procuringthepatent,misconductduringlitigation, vexatiousorunjustifiedlitigation, conduct

21 thatviolatesFed. R. Civ. P. 11, or like infractions.” BrooksFurniture Mfg., Inc. v. Dutailier

22 Int’l, Inc., 393 F.3d 1378,1381 (Fed.Cir. 2005). However,“[a]bsentmisconductin conductof

23 thelitigation or in securingthepatent,sanctionsmaybeimposedagainstthepatenteeonly if

24 both (1) thelitigation is broughtin subjectivebadfaith, and(2) thelitigation is objectively

25 baseless.”Id. (citing Prof’l RealEstateInvestorsv. ColumbiaPicturesIndus.,Inc., 508 U.S. 49,

26

27
2 TheCourtusesthe terms“spike”and“spikeless”hereto describeanddifferentiatetheneedlelessmedicalvalve

28 claimsandembodimentsin ICU’s assertedpatentsthatexpresslyrecitea“spike”elementfrom thosethatdo not.
The term“spikeless,”in particular,isnot atermofartanddoesnot appearin thepatents-in-suit.

3
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1 60-61 (1993) (defining“sham” litigationunderantitrustlaw)). The FederalCircuit has ~:

2 elaboratedthat when“the patenteeis manifestlyunreasonablein assessinginfringement, hile

3 continuingto assertinfringementin court, aninferenceis properofbadfaith, whethergrounded

4 in or denominatedwrongful intent,recklessness,orgrossnegligence.”EltechSys.Corp. v. PPG

5 Indus.,Inc., 903 F.2d805, 811 (Fed.Cir. 1990). Thus,the“filing andmaintainingofan

6 infringementsuit which thepatenteeknows,or on reasonableinvestigationshouldknow, is

7 baselessconstitutesgroundsfor declaringa caseexceptionalunder35 U.S.C. § 285.” Id. at 810

8 (quotationomitted).3 Similarly, “[l]itigation misconductandunprofessionalbehaviorare

9 relevantto theawardof attorneyfees,andmaysufficeto makeacaseexceptionalunder§ 285,”

10 asmaytheassertionof afrivolous claiminterpretationor thevexatiousraising,litigating and

11 laterdroppingofclaimsordefenses,evenwhenanhonestmistakeis alleged. Sensonics,81 F.3d

12 at 1574;BayerAktiengesellschaftv. DupharIntl ResearchB,V., 738 F.2d 1237, 1243 (Fed. Cir.

13 1984);BeckmanInstruments,Inc. v. LKB ProdukterAB, 892 F.2d 1547, 1552 (Fed. Cir. 1989).

14 TheFederalCircuit hasalsocautionedthat “[a]lthough thetrial judgemay exercisehis discretion

15 to awardattorneyfeesandcostsbecauseofinequitableconductduringprosecutionof thepatent

16

17
ICU advocatesthat,underBrooks,afinding ofexceptionalitybasedon aparty’sbadfaith engagementin

18 objectivelybaselesslitigation requiresdirectproofof thatparty’ssubjectiveintentto engagein thatlitigation. ICU
is only partiallycorrect,as suchpotentproofwould besufficient,but not necessaryin showingbadfaith. Prior

19 FederalCircuitauthority,particularlyunderEltech,statedthatsubjectivebadfaith couldbe: 1) “groundedin or
denominatedwrongful intent, recklessness,or grossnegligence;”or 2) derivedfrom aparty’sdecisionto engagein a

20 litigation tacticthat“the patenteeknows, or on reasonableinvestigationshouldknow, is baseless.”903 F.2dat810-
11. While theF/techcourtrequiredmorethanmerenegligenceto showbadfaith. it alsoheldthataparty’s

21 knowledgeof its litigationtactics’ baselessnaturecouldbeinferredobjectivelyfrom thecircumstancessurrounding
thosetactics. Id. at810. This objectiveshowingof aparty’ssubjectiveknowledge,andthusits badfaith, alleviated

22 the“difficulty ofprovingwhat is in anadversary’smind” by grantingtheaggrievedparty“liberty to provefacts
establishingthatthatadversaryshouldhaveknown, i.e. toprove factsthatrenderthe ‘I didn’t know’ excuse

23 unacceptable.”Id.
F/tech‘s objectivearticulationofwhatconstitutesbadfaith engagementin objectivelybaselesslitigation,

24 otherwisetermedvexatious,frivolous orunjustifiedundertheBrooksstandard,isconsistentwith authoritycitedby
theBrookscase,whichcitedto, andrelied on, theEltechstandard.See,e.g.,Brooks,393 F.3dat 1381 (citingForest

25 Labs.,Inc. v. AbbottLabs.,339F.3d 1324,1329-31 (Fed.Cir. 2003)(holding thai in evaluatingbadfaith vexatious,
unjustified or frivolous litigation underSection285,“thepertinentinquiry is thuswhether[oneparty] knewor

26 shouldhaveknownthat it wouldbeestoppedfrom asserting[its] . . . patentsagainst[the otherparty], but pursued
its infringementcounterclaimanyway.” (citing Eltech,903 F.2dat810-11))). Thus,theBrookspaneldid not

27 overruleor substantivelynarrow thebadfaith standardadvancedby Eltech. Seea/soPhonometrics,inc. v. Westin
Hotel Co., 350F.3d 1242,1246(Fed.Cir. 2003) (citing theEltech standard);HaynesInt’l Inc. v. JessopSteelCo., 8

28 F.3d1573,1579 (Fed.Cir. 1993) (same);seealso SouthCorp. v. Un itedStates,690F.2d 1368,1370n.2 (Fed.Cir.
1982)(enbanc) (holding thatonly anen banccourtcanoverruleearlierpaneldecisions).
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1 or misconductduring litigation, attorneyfeesarenotto beroutinelyassessedagainstalosj~g

2 partyin litigation[,] in orderto avoidpenalizingaparty for merelydefendingorprosecutiii~a

3 lawsuit.” McNeil-PPC,Inc. v. L. Perrigo Co., 337 F.3d 1362, 1372 (Fed.Cir. 2003)(citation

4 andquotationmarksomitted). Finally, in assessingwhethera casequalifiesasexceptional,“th~e

5 district courtmust look at thetotalityof thecircumstances.”YamanouchiPharm.Co.,Ltd. v.

6 DanbusyPharmacal,Inc., 231 F.3d1339, 1346-47(Fed.Cir. 2000).

7 Oncethecourt finds acaseexceptional,it mayawardfeesbasedon “the relevant

8 considerations,suchastheclosenessofthecase,thetacticsofcounsel,theflagrantor good faith

9 characteroftheparties’conduct,andarty otherfactorscontributingto impositionofpunitive

10 sanctionsor to fair allocationof theburdensoflitigation.” Perriconev. MedicisPharm. Corp.,

11 432 F.3d 1368, 1380-81(Fed. Cir. 2005). “Thecourt’schoiceofdiscretionaryruling shouldbe

12 in furtheranceofthepoliciesof thelawsthat arebeingenforced,asinformedby thecourt’s

13 familiarity with thematterin litigationandtheinterestofjustice.” S.C.Johnson& Son,Inc. v.

14 Carter-Wallace,Inc., 781 F.2d 198,201 (Fed. Cir. 1986)(citation omitted). In exceptional

15 cases,theaggrievedpartyis entitled to anawardof“the portionof its attorneyfeeswhichrelated

16 to thevexatiouslitigation strategyandothermisconduct.”Beckman,892 F.2d at 1553. “The

17 determinationoftheamountoftheawardremainswithin thediscretionof thetrial court,sinceit

18 is thetrial judgewho is in thebestpositionto know how severely[the offendingparty’s]

19 misconducthasaffectedthelitigation.” U. Thus,wherelitigationmisconductformsthebasis

20 for finding thatthecaseis exceptionalunderSection285, therecordmustestablisha causal

21 nexusbetweenthefeesclaimedand themisconduct. Id.

22

23 2. SanctionsUnderFederalRuleofCivil Procedure11

24 FederalRuleof Civil Procedure11 permitssanctionsfor filings, suchaspleadings,

25 motionsorother“paper[s],” where:1) suchpapersarelegally or factuallybaselessfrom an

26 objectiveperspective;and2) theassertingpartycannotshowthat it conductedareasonableand

27 competentinquiry beforesigningandfiling thedocument.Fed.R. Civ. P. 11; Christian v.

28 Mattel, 286 F.3d 1118, 1127(9th Cir. 2002);ViewEng’g, Inc. v. RoboticVision Sys.,Inc., 208

-5-
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1 F.3d981, 985-96(Fed.Cir. 2000). A claim is legallybaselessif it is legallyunreasonablc;:~while

2 a claim is factuallybaselessif it lacksfactualfoundation. EstateofBluev. CountyofLa !~

3 Angeles,120 F.3d982,985 (9th Cir. 1997). Thepartyassertingtheclaim bearstheburdei~of

4 showingthat its inquiry wasreasonableandcompetent. ViewEng ‘,g, 208 F.3dat986. Rule I I

5 sanctionsarcdesignedto “reducefrivolous claims,defensesormotionsandto detercostly

6 meritlessmaneuvers,therebyavoidingdelayandunnecessaryexpensein litigation.” Christian,

7 286F.3d at 1127 (citationandquotationmarksomitted). Rule 11 sanctionsarethus limited“to

8 what is sufficientto deterrepetitionofsuchconductor comparableconductby otherssimilarly

9 situated.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 1 l(c)(2).

10 Unlike sanctionsunderSection285, Section1927or theCourt’sinherentpower,which

11 maybebasedon attorneymisconduct,Rule 11 sanctionsareonly availablewith regardto signed

12 papersfiled with thecourt. UnitedEnergyOwnersComm.,inc. v. (1.5. EnergyMgmt Sys.,Inc.,

13 837 F.2d356,364-65(9th Cir. 1988). Rule 11 sanctionsfor apatentinfringementclaim would

14 be appropriateif it is legallyunreasonableorwithout factualfoundationsuchthat anobjectively

15 reasonableattorneywould not believethat everyclaimlimitation readson theaccusedproducts

16 eitherliterally orunderthedoctrineof equivalents.ViewEng‘g, 208 F.3dat986.

17

18 3. SanctionsUnder28U.S.C.fl927

19 Section1927underTitle 28oftheUnitedStatesCode,entitled“Counsel’sliability for

20 excessivecosts,”provides:“Any attorney... who somultiplies theproceedingsin anycase

21 unreasonablyandvexatiouslymaybe requiredby thecourtto satisfypersonallytheexcesscosts,

22 expenses,andattorneys’ feesreasonablyincurredbecauseof suchconduct.” 28 U.S.C.§ 1927.

23 An awardof sanctionsunderSection1927mustbesupportedby afinding of subjectivebadfaith

24 for “unnecessaryfilings andtacticsoncea lawsuit hasbegun.” Trulis v. Barton, 107F.3d685,

25 694 (9th Cir. 1995) (citation omitted);In re KeeganMgmt.Co. Secs.Litig., 78 F.3d431,435

26 (9th Cir. 1996). “Bad faith is presentwhenan attorneyknowingly orrecklesslyraisesafrivolous

27 argumentorarguesameritoriousclaim for thepurposeofharassingan opponent.” Trulis, 107

28 F.3dat 694(citationandquotationmarksomitted). Unlike sanctionsunderRule 11,sanctions

-6-
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I underSection1927 do notrequirethat a filing be entirelyfrivolous, so long asafinding ofbad

2 faith intentionto harassorrecklessnessis made. In reKeeganMgmt. Co., 78 F.3dat436.~;

4 4. SanctionsUndertheCourt’s InherentPower

5 Alarms alsoseeksanawardoffeesandcostsundertheCourt’s inherentpowerto sanction

6 theprosecutionofbadfaith litigationandlitigationmisconduct. “The inherentpower

7 encompassesthepowerto sanctionattorneyorpartymisconduct,”andincludesthepowerto

8 assessfeesandcosts“whenapartyhasactedin badfaith, vexatiously,wantonly,or for

9 oppressivereasons.” Chambersv. NASCO,Inc., 501 U.S. 32,45-46(1991) (citationomitted).

10 TheNinth Circuit specificallyrequiresa finding ofbadfaith in orderfor a courtto grant

11 sanctionsunderits inherentpower. In reKeeganMgms. Co., 78 F.3dat436 (citationsomitted).

12 While theSupremeCourthasadvisedthat thesanctioningschemefound in variousstatutesand

13 ruleshasnotdisplacedthecourts’ inherentpower,“when thereis bad-faithconductin thecourse

14 oflitigation that couldbe adequatelysanctionedunder[a statuteor] theRules,thecourt

15 ordinarilyshouldrely on the[statuteor] Rulesratherthantheinherentpower.” Chambers,501

16 U.S.at46,50.

17

18 B. Analysis Under 35 U.S.C.§ 285

19 1. Alaris is thePrevailingParty

20 Determinationoftheprevailingparty is basedon therelationofthelitigation resultto the

21 overall objectiveofthelitigation, andnot on a countof thenumberofclaimsanddefenses.

22 Brooks,393 F.3d at 1381 (citing Tex. StateTeachersAss‘n v. GarlandIndep.Sch.Dist., 489 U.S.

23 782, 789(1989)C’plaintiffs maybe considered‘prevailingparties’for attorney’sfeespurposesi

24 they succeedon anysignificantissuein litigationwhich achievessomeof thebenefit theparties

25 soughtin bringingthesuit”) (citationandquotationmarksomitted)). ICU accusedAlaris of

26 infringing four ofits patentsanddemandedthatAlarms ceaseproducingtheaccusedSmartSite

27 products. WhenAlarms establishedits non-infringementof ICU’s “spike” claimsandthe

28 invalidity of ICU’s “spikeless”claims, it prevailedin thelitigation.

-7-



Case :04-cv~00689-MRP-VBK Document 730 FUed 04/16/2007 PageS of 27

1 2. This Caseis Exceptional

2 The Court finds thatthis caseis exceptionalby theclearandconvincingevidenc&that

3 Alaris hasprovided. This evidenceshowsthat ICU engagedin improperlitigationwhen

4 soughtthetemporaryrestrainingorderandpreliminaryinjunction (the“TRO/PI”) andwhenit

5 later assertedthe“spike” claimsin anamendedcomplaintaftertheTRO/PIwasdenied. Both

6 theTRO/PI requestandtheamendedcomplaint’sassertionof the“spike” claimswere

7 objectivelybaselessandbroughtin badfaith, makingthis caseanexceptionalone. TheCourt

8 addresseseachin turn.

9

10 a) ICU’s Requestfor a TemporaryRestrainingOrderandPreliminary

ii Injunction in June2004

12 The factssurroundingICU’s requestfor theTRO/PI aresufficientby themselvesto make

13 this caseexceptional. ICU filed this lawsuiton June16, 2004,assertingonly the ‘509 Patentand

14 its “spikeless”claims,claims17-23,which ICU statesweredraftedandprosecutedspecifically

15 to combatAlarms’ SmartSiteValve. Uponthefiling of this lawsuit,ICU alsofiled an exparte

16 applicationfor atemporaryrestrainingorderandorderto showcausewhy Alaris shouldnotbe

17 preliminarilyenjoinedfrom making,usingandsellingSmartSiteValves (theTRO/PI). The

18 CourtdeniedICU’s requestfor theTRO/PIin July2004,however,ICU engagedin several

19 improperlitigation tacticsat thebeginningof thecase.

20 First, ICU assertedonly faciallyinvalid claimsin the‘509 Patentin requestingthe

21 TRO/PI,all thewhile maintainingthat it was diligentandpursuingvalid claimsbeforetheCourt.

22 Approximately22 ofthe‘509 Patent’stotal 29 claimswereidenticalto claimsin the‘592 Patent,

23 while six of thesevenasserted‘509 Patentclaims(claims 17-22)wereidenticalto ‘592 Patent

24 claims(claims35-39and46),andtheremainingclaim, claim23, sufferedfrom animproper

25 claim of dependencyon claim22.

26 Thesewereflaws thatevenacursoryreviewoftheassertedpatent’sprosecutionhistory

27 wouldhaverevealed. Theprosecutionhistoriesof the‘509 and‘592 Patentsareinterrelated,as

28 ICU appliedfor the‘509 Patentduringtheprosecutionofthe‘592 Patent. ICU filed the

-8-
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I applicationfor the‘592 Patenton May 9, 2000. OnNovember19, 2001,ICU presentedt~pnty-

2 ninemoreor lessidentical claimsto thePatentandTrademarkOffice (“PTO”) twice: 1) ii~n

3 amendmentto ICU’s then-pendingapplicationthat ultimatelybecamethe ‘592 Patent;and~’2)in

4 ICU’s newcontinuationapplicationfor the‘509 Patent.The ‘509 Patentwasthusa“child” of

5 the‘592 Patent;it derivedfrom the‘592 Patentapplicationandincludedvirtually thesame

6 “spikeless”claims. The ‘592 Patentissuedon June3, 2003,while the‘509 Patentissuedon

7 January27, 2004. Oneof theprosecutingattorneysfor the‘592 and ‘509 Patentsstatedthat he

8 believedhis firm filed theduplicateclaimsto “get the claimsallowedmorequickly,” but this

9 racebetweenthepatentswasnotdisclosedto thePTO. (SeeAlaris FeesMot. ReplyBr. at 5.)

10 After the‘509 Patentissued,ICU requestedthatthePTOcorrect,amongotherthings,two

ii articlesin eachofassertedclaims 17 and20 (“an” to “a” and“a” to “an”), andremovea“g”

12 from “snuggly,” to read“snugly,” in claims20-22. Thedouble-patenting,however,wasnot

13 discoveredornotedby thePTO. TherequestedCertificateofCorrectionissuedon June15,

14 2004. ICU filed this suitthefollowing day, assertingonly the‘509 Patent,andrequestedthe

15 TRO/PI two daysafterthat. At that time, thecorrespondingclaimsofthe‘592 Patentcontained

16 five ofthesevenerrorsthat werecorrectedin theassertedclaimsofthe ‘509 Patent.

17 ICU wasatbestgrosslynegligentin failing to detectthepresenceofthedouble-patented

18 claimsin the‘509 Patentbeforeassertingthem in thecomplaintandbeforeclaimingdiligence

19 beforetheCourt in requestingtheTRO/PI. This is especiallytrue giventhat the‘509 and ‘592

20 Patentsareboth ICU patents,derivefrom thesame1992application,sharea Common

21 Specification,havethesameinventorandwereprosecutedby thesamepatentlawyersfor ICU

22 only threeyearsbeforein thesameNovember2001 filing. Standingalone,thesefactsarguably

23 couldbe takento indicatethat ICU did notperform anyreasonableinvestigationoftheasserted

24 patentsandtheirrelatednessbeforeinitiating thelitigation, despitehavingmonths,if notyearsto

25 do so. In this regard,ICU claimsthatit missedthedouble-patentingbecauseit wasfocused

26 insteadon theobviousnessobjectionsraisedby the!T0 Examiner,who.alsofailed to notethe

27 double-patentedclaims. But thefacts showthat ICU wasdecidedlyawareofthe‘592 Patent’s

28 existence,havingattachedthecoverpagefrom the‘592 Patent,but nottheclaims,in their

-9-
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1 TRO/PImaterialsupportingthe“indicia ofvalidity” for the ‘509 Patent.Furthermore,ICU must

2 havebeenacutelyawareoftheinterrelatednessof thetwo patentsgiventhefact that ICU~lji~d

3 beenworking specificallyon the‘509 Patentin securingaCertificationof Correctionfrom~the

4 PTOimmediatelyprior to filing this suit, oneofwhosecorrectionstied the‘509 Patent’s

5 prosecutionhistory to the‘592 PatentandtheNovember2001 filing. Finally, ICU’s litigation

6 counselhad,by thattime, worked with other1CU patentsthat alsoincludedthe‘592 Patentin

7 theirprosecutionhistoriesin earlier litigation. ThatTCU wasunableto detecttheseobvious

8 flaws in its assertedpatentfor severalmonthsbeforeandafter thecommencementof the

9 litigation showsnotmerenegligence,but grossnegligenceorstudiedignorance,neitherofwhich

10 justifiesplacingtheburdenon Alarms. ICU’s self-servingproteststhat they “didn’t know” ofthe

11 double-patentingandsimplyoverlookedthe“red flags” just discussedarewholly unconvincing.

12 Further,Alaris neednot showwhat was in ICU’s “mind” in overlookingtheseerrors,and is at

13 “liberty to provefactsestablishingthat [ICU] shouldhaveknown, i.e. to provefactsthat render

14 the‘I didn’t know’ excuseunacceptable.”Eltech,903 F.2dat 810.

15 However,ICU compoundedthis egregious“oversight” by failing to acknowledgeor

16 correcttheseclaims’ deficienciesor to withdrawthem in an expeditiousmanner,despitebeing

17 told ofthedouble-patentingby Alaris andtheCourt, For example,Alaris first pointedout the

18 double-patentingin the ‘509 claimsto ICU beforethehearingon theTRO/PI. As earlyasJuly

19 2004,Alarms outlinedcitationsto thetext oftheduplicateclaims,but ICU disregardedthis

20 warningfrom its adversaryandlater erroneouslyassertedthevalidity ofthoseclaimsin the

21 preliminaryinjunctionhearing. Later,theCourtcited thedouble-patentedclaimsin the‘509

22 Patentasoneof themainreasonsit deniedtheTRO/PI. Ratherthancorrecttheerrorafter these

23 two warnings,ICU keptfour oftheclaimsfrom theTRO/PI hearingin thecaseandthenadded

24 moredouble-patentedclaimsfrom ‘509 Patent(claims 1-10)thatwere alsofound in the ‘592

25 Patent(claims17-26). ICU did notpublicly acknowledgethedouble-patentingofthoseclaims

26 until overa year later. ICU nowtries to excusethis delayby termingthedouble-patenting

27 euphemisticallyasan “insurmountableproblem” andstatingthat it took thebestcourseofaction

28 it couldby ceasingto activelyassertthoseclaimsin thecase,despitefailing to actuallydrop

-10-
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I them. This response,too, wasvexatious,asAlarms still hadto contendwith therealpossi~~ityof

2 beingforcedto continueto litigate theseinvalid claims. Thus, ICU’s addedreealcitranedi’n the

3 faceofhavingmadeanarguablyinexcusableerror portendsbadfaith. 1 I

4 Second,ICU misleadinglyportrayedits diligenceby selectivelyassertingthe‘509 Patent

5 insteadof the‘592 Patent,whichhadissuednearlyayearbeforeICU requestedtheTRO/PI. It

6 is importantto notethatwhenICU requestedtheTRO/PI,Alaris’ SmartSiteValve had already

7 beenon themarketsince1996. However,because,in ICU’s view, the‘509 Patentrepresented

8 thebestarrow in ICU’s quiver to combatAlaris’ SmartSiteValve, ICU representedto theCourt

9 that FederalCircuit authorityrequiredthatICU wait until theCertificateofCorrectionissuedon

10 •the ‘509 Patentin June2006beforeit could file this suit. Thefact that ICU prosecutedapatent

11 to combatacompetitor’sproductandthensuedon thatpatentis not noteworthy4,but ICU was

12 disingenuousin claiming that it acteddiligently in assertingthe‘509 Patentinsteadofthe‘592

13 Patentor that it wassomehowprecludedfrom assertingtheearlier ‘592 Patentby FederalCircuit

14 authority. ICU’s claim that the‘509 Patent’sCertificateofCorrectionhad“very serious

15 corrections,”includingchangingthehistoryofthe‘509 Patentto beacontinuation-in-part

16 applicationandprovidingaproperantecedentbasisfor claim 1, is doubtful, if notwholly

17 unavailing. Again, areviewof the‘592 Patentwould haveshownthatit containedvirtually

18 identicalclaimsto theonesICU was assertingin the‘509 Patent,meaningICU couldhave

19 assertedits rightswith adifferentpatentnearlya yearearlier. This is preciselywhat ICU

20 ultimatelydid whenit later amendedits complaintto includethe ‘592 Patent’snearlyidentical

21 “spikeless”claims— in theiruncorrectedform— aftertheCourtdeniedICU’s requestfor the

22 TRO/PI. Underthosefacts,ICU’s excusethattheCertificateofCorrectionwas neededandthat

23 FederalCircuit authorityprecludedits filing earlierwasentirely invalid. ICU wasnot diligent in

24 assertingthe‘509 PatentandICU’s attemptto concealits lack ofdiligenceby assertingthe‘509

25

26 “ SeeKingsdownMcd. Consultants,Ltd. v. Hollister Inc., 863 F.2d867, 874(Fed. Cir. 1988) (“[T]here is nothing
improper, illegal or inequitablein filing apatentapplicationfor thepurposeofobtainingaright to excludeaknown

27 competitor’sproductfrom themarket;nor is it in anymannerimproperto amendor insertclaims intendedto covera
competitor’sproducttheapplicant’sattorneyhaslearnedaboutduringtheprosecutionof apatentapplication.My

28 suchamendmentor insertionmust complywith all statutesandregulations,of course,but, if it does,its genesisin
themarketplaceis simplyirrelevantandcannotof itself evidencedeceitful intent.”).
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1 Patentinsteadof the‘592 Patentdemonstratedbadfaith.

2 Third, whenAlaris challengedthepresumptionof validity of ICU’s asserted“spikelEss”

3 claimsat theTRO/PIhearing,ICU representedto theCourt that therewas“clearly” a“spikeless”

4 valve embodimentdisclosedin Figures 13 and20-22oftheCommonSpecificationto the‘509

5 Patent. A superficialreviewoftheseFiguresshowsthat theydid not containor demonstrateany

6 “spikeless”embodiment,somethingJudgeStotlerlaterdiscerned. Overtwo yearslater, ICU

7 eventuallyacknowledgedthatthesefiguresdo not, in fact, containa “spikeless”embodiment,

8 andstatedits original claim wasan “honestmistake.” Again, grossnegligencemayhavecaused

9 ICU’s initial errorin arguingthat thesesfigures illustrateda“spikeless”embodiment,but bad

10 faith droveICU’s insistenceon this argumentaswell asits failure to timely correctorexplain its

11 error.

12 In total, ICU’s requestfor theTRO/PI wasobjectivelybaselessandbroughtin bad faith.

13 When facedwith facts,errorsandomissionsthatwould havedeterredaprudentandobjectively

14 reasonablecounselfrom pursuingtheTRO/PI,ICU stayedthecourseandforcedAlaris to

15 litigate a meritlessaction. ICU mademultiple,repeatedmisrepresentations,whetherknowingly

16 or recklessly,to theCourtregardingits ownpatentsin an effort to concealwhat arenow

17 characterizedaserrorsin orderto rescuetheTROIPI from denial, Ultimately,oneofthemost

18 telling factsis that all of theclaimsthat ICU assertedin theTRO/PI proceedingwereultimately

19 withdrawn, Theseextraordinarytactics,standingalone,sufficeto makethis caseexceptional.

20

21 b) ICU’s AssertionofIts “Spike” Claimsin the ‘866, ‘862 and ‘592 Patents

22 ICU’s next stepin the litigationwas alsoimproperandservedto exacerbatethecase’s

23 exceptionalnature.Having beendeniedaTRO/PI on thebasisofthe“spikeless”claimsof the

24 ‘509 Patent,ICU movedto amendits complaintin October2004 to includeclaimsdescribinga

25 medicalvalvewith a “spike” element,termed“spike” claims. These“spike” claimswere

26 containedin ICU’s ‘862 and‘866 “spike” Patentsandin the ‘592 Patent,which containedboth

27 “spike and“spikeless”claims. The Court grantedICU leaveto amendthecomplaint in

28
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1 December2004.~

2 ICU hadno objectivebasisfor assertingthese“spike” claims. This conclusionis

3 compelledby threefacts: 1) Alaris’ SmartSiteValvescontainedno “spike” element,as

4 reasonablydefinedby the“spike” claimsin ICU’s Patents;2) ICU only suedon these“spike”

5 claimsby assertinga frivolous constructionoftheterm“spike” asan “upwardprojection” in an

6 improperattemptto coverAlarms’ SmartSiteproducts;and3) ICU’s failure to sueon these

7 “spike” claimsprior to June2004,aswell asits failure to assertthemat thebeginningofthis

8 case,indicatesthatICU did notbelievea suit againsttheSmartSiteValveswouldbe reasonable

9 usingthese“spike” claims. ICU wasentitled to bring in patentreinforcementsin amendingits

10 complaintaftertheTRO/PI Denial questionedthevalidity ofthe‘509 Patent’s“spikeless”

11 claims,butno objectivelyreasonableattorneywouldhavethoughtthatthe“spike” claimswere

12 suitablereinforcements.Specifically,areasonableattorneywould nothaveconstruedthe

13 “spike” elementin ICU’s patentsasit did, nor would he or shehavebelievedthat everyclaim

14 limitation ofthe“spike” claimsreadon theaccusedAlarms productseitherliterally orunderthe

15 doctrineofequivalents.The Courthasdiscussedat lengthin theclaim constructionorderandits

16 partial summaryjudgmentorderofnoninfringementon the“spike” claimswhy ICU’s assertion

17 andconstructionof the“spike” claimswasnot objectivelyreasonable,evento oneskilledin the

18 art. In short, ICU’s claimedconstructionofa“spike” asan “upright projection”lacked

19 dictionaryor treatisesupportandomittedthepointedstructureor piercingfunctionthat were

20 clearlyrequiredby theassertedpatents’claims,specificationanddrawings. No reasonable

21 attorneywouldhavethusfound that theSmartSite Valve possesseda“spike” element,asdefined

22 by ICU’s “spike” claims,eitherliterally or underthedoctrineof equivalents.The “spike” claims

23 shouldneverhavebeenassertedat all, from an objectivestandpoint.

24 The unreasonablenessofICU’s assertingthe“spike” claimsagainsttheSmartSiteis

25

26 ~ICU arguesthatbecauseJudgeStotlergrantedICU’s requesttoamendthecomplaintto includethe“spike” claims,
despiteAlaris’ havingmadethe sameargumentsit nowmakes— thatassertingthe “spike” claimswasfrivolousand

27 unjustified— ICU’s litigation strategywas deemedlegitimate. Thisprovestoo much. JudgeStotlerwasnot
positionedto properlyor fully adjudicatethemerits ofICU’s amendedcomplaint,andICU specificallyargued

28 againstherdoingsoatthat time. JudgeStotler’s decisionto grantICU leaveto amendthecomplaintdid not
constituteasubstantiveendorsementof themeritof ICU’s claimsoravalidationof its litigation strategy.
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1 furtherborneout bythelitigationhistoryof this case. ICU admitsthat it did not original1y:~ue

2 on its ‘862 and ‘866 “spike” Patents,which issuedseveralyearsearlierin 1997and 1999)~

3 becauseof the“substantialdifficulty” it would facein assertingthe“spike” claimsagainst)

4 Alaris’ products,whichwere“spikeless.” EventhoughICU statedthat Alarms wasa competitive

5 threatto its medicalvalvebusinessasearlyas2001,ICU clearly statedto theCourt in the

6 TRO/PIproceedingsthat it neededto wait for theprosecutionofthe‘509 Patentandits

7 “spikeless” claims to combattheSmartSiteValve. All thewhile, ICU’s “spike” claimsin the

8 ‘866 and ‘862 Patentswerenot asserted.In June2003,ICU furtherexpandedthisuntapped

9 reserveof“spike” claims with the issuanceof ‘592 Patentandits mix of“spike” and“spikeless”

10 claims. Still ICU did not sueon the“spike” claims,which bythenwerethesubjectof three

11 separatepatents.This is likely becauseICU’s ultimateadditionofthe“spike” claimsin

12 December2004 from thesethreeearlierpatents,includingonethat containedthevery same

13 “spikeless”claims thatwereassertedin the ‘509 Patent,fundamentallyunderminedits

14 representationin theTRO/PIhearingthatit couldnot havesuedearlier thanit did. However,

15 oncetheTRO/PI Denial raisedcritical questionsaboutthevalidity of the“spikeless”claimsin

16 the‘509 and ‘592 Patents,for both double-patentinganda probablelack ofasufficient written

17 description,ICU unreasonablyturnedto its “spike” claimsto buttress,if not rescue,its case,

18 Furthermore,Alaris pointsto evidenceshowingthat,prior to filing this case,ICU did not

19 believethat theSmartSiteValves infringedits “spike” claims. This evidenceincludesstatements

20 by ICU’s inventorandinternalpersonnelseparatelyindicatingtheirviews thattheAlaris

21 SmartSite Valve hadno “spike” elementandthattheSmartSite Valve wasan appreciably

22 differentdevicefrom anyof ICU’s valves. Alaris alsocitesa 1996patentapplicationfor a

23 “spikeless”medical valvedevicethat ICU filed after theSmartSitewascommerciallyreleased;

24 Alaris arguestheclaimeddeviceborea strikingresemblanceto certainaspectsoftheSmartSite

25 Valve. Notably,theclaimeddeviceomittedany“spike” elementandICU describedits design

26 with an internalshort,stubbytubeas“spikeless.”This applicationdid not claim priority to the

27 1991 and 1992 applicationscommonto all ofthepatentsassertedin this case,andit was later

28 abandoned.Thoughnot dispositiveon the issueofICU’s badfaith, this evidenceweighsagainst
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l ICU’s currentcontentionthat its assertionofthe“spike” claimsin late2004wassupportedjya

2 long-standing,widely-heldor genuinebeliefthatAlaris’ SmartSiteValvesalwaysinfring’1

3 thoseclaims. However,whenviewedtogetherwith ICU’s objectivelybaselessconstructidhof a

4 “spike,” its unreasonableargumentthat theSmartSitcValvesinfringed the“spike” claims,and

5 its needto hedgeagainstthequestionedvalidity oftheasserted“spikeless”claims in this case,

6 ICU’s assertionofthe“spike” claimsservedonly to improperlyexpandandprolongthe

7 litigation in badfaith.

8

9 c) Alaris ‘ Requestfor Rule11 Sanctionsin Responseto ICU’s Assertionof

10 the “Spike” Claims in theAmendedComplaint

11 This caseis alsoexceptionalbecause1CU’sassertionofthe“spike” claimsin the

12 amendedcomplaintwasobjectivelybaselessandcouldnothavebeentheproductof areasonable

13 pre-litigationinquiry, and, thus,it warrantsRule 11 sanctions. The Courtdiscussesthereasons

14 for this conclusionlater in this order,butnotesherethat an awardof sanctionsunderRule Ii

15 providesaseparatebasisfor finding acaseexceptional. Brooks,393 F.3d at 1381.

16

17 d) ExceptionalCaseConclusions

18 Alaris haspresentedclearandconvincingevidencethat ICU’s TRO/PI requestand its

19 assertionof the“spike” claims in this casewereobjectivelybaselessandmadein badfaith. In

20 response,ICU arguesthattheseactionsdid notriseto thelevel ofattorneymisconduct,andthe

21 Court,in general,agrees.But, in theabsenceof misconduct,acourt canfind acaseexceptional

22 whereobjectivelybaselesslitigationwasbroughtin subjectivebadfaith. Brooks,393 F.3dat

23 1381. And aparty’s subjectivelybadfaith maybeshownby objectivecircumstances

24 demonstratingthataparty“knew” or “shouldhaveknown” that its litigation tacticswere

25 objectivelybaseless,renderingthe“I didn’t know” excuseinvalid. Eltech,903 F.2dat 810-11.

26 Alarmshasmet its burdenin showingthatthis caseis exceptional,andICU’s excusesareboth

27

28

-15-



Case :04~cv-00689~MRP-VBK Document 730 FUed 04/16/2007 Page 16 of 27

1 unavailingandinsufficient.6

2

3 3. Alaris is Entitledto aPortionof its RequestedAttorneyFees

4 Having found thecaseexceptional,theCourt finds thatapartial awardof attorneyfeesis

5 proper, For thereasonsdiscussedabove,theCourt finds thatAlaris is entitled to feesfor the

6 samepartsof this litigation thatrenderedit exceptional. Thesecomprisethefeesandcosts

7 relatingto: 1) theTRO/PI; 2) ICU’s assertionofthe“spike” claims; and3) ICU’s constructiono

8 theterm“spike” atclaim construction.Alaris is not entitled to feesfor ICU’s laterlitigation of

9 the“spikeless”claimsof the‘509 and‘592 Patentsafterthe“spike” claimsweredismissedfrom

10 thecase,nor is it entitled to feesfor anyotherpartof claim construction.In contrastto its

11 objectivelybaselessandbadfaith litigation oftheTRO/PI and“spike” claims,ICU’s later

12 unsuccessfullitigationof the“spikeless”claimsinvolvedtacticsbestcharacterizedas

13 overzealousor overly creative,asopposedto vexatiousandfrivolous. As Alarms describesthem,

14 thesetacticsinclude: I) asserting,in violationof written descriptionlaw, thattheCommon

15 Specificationsupportsa“spikclcss” embodimentin contradictionoftheabstract,summaryof the

16 invention, drawingsanddescriptionoftheoperationofthevalvesdescribedin the‘509 and‘592

17 Patents;2) improperlyrelyingon enablementlaw to extrapolate,andsupplementthewritten

18 descriptionwith, unsupportedembodimentswithouttelling theCourtthat it wasspecifically

19 doing so; 3) repeatingthefalseassertionthat Figures 113 and20-22showa “spikeless”

20 embodiment;4) ignoring JudgeStotler’s “warning” in theTRO/PI findings that therewasa

21 substantialquestionof the“spikeless”claims’ validity for lackof writtendescriptionat theonset

22 ofthis case;5) improperlyciting to an undatedproductreference,the“Q-Syte,” asevidenceof

23 infringementwhen,in fact, thereferencewasproducedin 2003,nearly 11 yearsafter the

24

25
6Alaris assertsseveralothergroundsfor declaringthis caseexceptional,whicharenot specificallyaddressedin this

26 Order,but whichmaybeencompassedin the improperTRO/PI and“spike” claimslitigation. Thoughnot cited,
theseadditional groundsor factsmightwell augmenttheCourt’s finding ofanexceptionalcase,but the salientfacts

27 discussedabovearesufficientfor thattask. SeeBeckman,892 F.2dat 1551 (“While it is necessaryfor thedistrict
courtto articulatetheparticularfactual findings on which theultimate finding of ‘exceptionalcircumstances’is

28 based,whenthecourt’s finding[sJ . . . [are]basedon a‘strategy’,we do not feel thatit is necessaryfor the district
courtto setforth everyunderlyingfact whichcontributedto itsconclusion.”).
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I applicationfor the‘509 and‘592 Patentswasfiled; and6) repeatedlycontradictingtheCourt’s

2 prior claimconstructionsin its expertanalysisandlegalargumentsopposingAlaris’ motkthfor

3 summaryjudgmentofinvalidity of the“spikeless”claims.

4 In theCourt’s view, thefirst two tacticsatworstconstituteICU’s makingweak

5 argumentsorciting to related,but inappositelaw, asopposedto makingfrivolousor reckless

6 arguments,and Alaris doesnotmusterclearandconvincingevidencethat ICU engagedin these

7 tacticsin badfaith or for vexatiouspurposes.To theextentthat ICU mayhavereiteratedthat

8 Figures13 and 20-22demonstrateda“spikelcss”embodimentin the laterstagesof this ease,the

9 Courtbelievestheattorneyfeesgrantedelsewhereby this Orderalreadycoverthis tactic. ICU’s

10 decisionto continueto assertits non-double-patented“spikeless”claims,despiteJudgeStotler’s

11 preliminaryindicationthat therewas aquestionasto theirvalidity for lack ofawritten

12 description,doesnot warrantaconclusionofbadfaith andanawardof fees. Alarms

13 acknowledgesthat JudgeStotler’sfindings in theTRO/PIDenial did not constitutea“finding on

14 themerits” that shouldhavecompletelystoppedICU from litigating thematterfurther,evenif

15 this Courtlaterconclusivelyfound that ICU’s “spikeless”claimslackedasufficient written

16 descriptionon summaryjudgment.ICU’s referenceto theQ-Sytewasinaccurateandin error,

17 butit did not meaningfullyinfluencethelitigation, especiallywith respectto theinvalidity ofthe

18 “spikeless”claims.

19 ICU’s last faulted tacticofrepeatedlycontradictingthis Court’s claimconstructions,

20 particularlytheterms“spike” and“decompressed/compressed,”deservesfurtheranalysis,but

21 doesnot warrantawardingfees. As apreliminarymatter,aparty’s disagreeingwith acourtordet

22 is notpresumedto bevexatiousconductsufficient to warrantfeesunderSection285. Frank’s

23 CasingCrew & RentalTools,Inc. v. Weatherfordtnt ‘1, Inc., 389F.3d 1370, 1379(Fed. Cir.

24 2004). ICU’s counselmaintainedthatthey “did no violence”to theCourt’s claim constructions

25 and, in fact, “embraced”them in their analysis. HoweverheartfeltICU’s beliefin that repeated

26 claim maybe, it is objectivelynottrue,astheCourtdiscussedat lengthin its ordergranting

27 Alaris’ summaryjudgmentmotionthatinvalidatedthe“spikeless”claimsin the‘509 and‘592

28 Patents.Therecordshowsthat ICU openlydisagreedwith theCourt’sclaim constructionsand
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1 did, in fact, repeatedlyassertargumentsthat contradictedthemin litigating subsequentmatters,

2 especiallyin opposingAlaris’ motionfor summaryjudgmentof invalidity of the“spikele~j”

3 claims. For example,ICU presentedargumentsandexpertanalysisthatclearlycontradict~dthe

4 Court’sprior claim constructions,particularlythosefor “spike” and“decompressed,”in a

5 maimerthatwould havebestbeenpresentedin a motionfor reconsideration,which ICU never

6 brought.After theCourt’s adverseclaimconstructions,ICU wasfree to movefor

7 reconsideration,but, underMarkman,it wasnot free to presentarguments,evidenceoranalysis

8 that contradictedthoseconstructionsor thereasoningthat supportedthem.7 However,when

9 ____________________________

“At thehearingon Alaris’ FeesMotion, ICUpresenteda seminalargumentfor what it termsa “Constitutional
tension”thatjustified its reiterationofclaim constructionspreviouslyrejectedby the Court. This “Constitutional

~ tension”ariseswhenapartyin apatentcasereceivesanadverseclaimconstructionandis themforcedto either
concedethecaseor continueto arguea previouslyrejectedclaimconstructionby statingfactualissuesrelatedto tha

12 constructionstill exist in adjudicatingjury-determinedissueslike written descriptionor infringement. ICU
advocatedthatwhile thetextof court’sclaim constructionis legallybindingon theparties,thelegal or factual

13 reasoningsupportingthatclaim constructionis not,especiallywhenlitigating relatedandfactually-intensiveissues
like invalidity or infringement. A partywould thusbe free to presentevidenceandexpertanalysisthat citedthe text

14 of thecourt’sclaim construction,claimingto “embrace”it, but thatprovidedcontextorotheranalysisby skilled
artisansthatpotentiallyunderminesor conflictswith thereasoningsupportingtheconstructions.ICU admitsit has

15 neverbriefedthis issueor cited to anycasesthatnotethis“Constitutionaltension”or supportthis noveltheory.
This Court rejectedthis theoryin theSpikelessSJOrderasbeingin directconflict with the SupremeCourt

16 andFederalCircuit’s mandatein Mar/anan. SeeMarkmanv. WestviewInstruments,Inc., 517 U.S. 370, 372(1996)
(“[T]he constructionof apatent,including termsof art within its claim, is exclusivelywithin the provinceof the

17 court,”). The Courtrecognizesthedifficult situationICU facedin light of theCourt’s unfavorableclaim
construction,but reiteratesits conclusionthatICU’sproposedprocesswouldrenderaMarkznanhearing,like the

18 onethat occurredin thiscase,meaningless.
First, this is becauseclaim constructioninvolvesamixedquestionof law andfact, andICU’s theory

19 requiresanunnatural,if not impossibleparsingof thewordingof acourt’sclaim constructionfrom the reasoning
andfactsthatgeneratedit. In construingaclaim, thethree—~text, reasoningandfacts— areinextricablylinked,asa

20 court’s claimconstructionsarefundamentallybasedon acloseanalysisof thespecificationandclaims. The only
reasonfor apartyto presentevidencethatconflictedwith onewouldbeto confuse,undermineor obfuscatethe

21 others. Suchevidencewould disruptthepatent’s“internal coherence,”whichthe SupremeCourt statedwasbest
ascertainedby the“decisionmakervestedwith thetaskof construingthe patent,”or, thecourt. id. at389.

22 Second,ICU’s proposedprocesswould reintroducethevery uncertaintyandinconsistencyinjury-based
interpretationsof patentclaimsthatMarkmanstrived to eliminate. SeeMarkman,517 U.S. at388-91 (holding

23 judgeshavegreaterskill thanjuriesin correctlyanduniformly interpretingpatentclaims). Forexample,ICU sought
to characterizerenewedexpertanalysisthatequateda“spike” with a“tube” andmaintainedthat“decompressed”

24 includessomecompressionor “preload,”notwithstandingtheCourt’sprior claim constructionsto thecontrary,as
issuesfact in orderto rescueits infringementclaimsunderthedoctrineofequivalentsfrom theCourt’snarrow

25 constructions.If the Courtwereto allow ICU topresentthisexpertevidence,a jury would likely reachan
interpretationof theclaims’ meaningorscopethat differedfrom theCourt’sclaim constructionsin evaluatinga

26 largerfactualissue,suchas infringementor invalidity. This, in effect,gives ICU twobites(or more)attheclaim
constructionappleandseverelyweakenstheeffectof theCourt’s claim constructionsin thecase,neitherof which is

27 permittedunderMark,nan.
Finally, to theextentany“Constitutionaltension” existsby virtueof acourt’sadjudicationofa traditionall:

28 jury-determinedfactual issue,theSupremeCourthasalreadyaddressedandresolvedit in favor of acourt-based
claim constructionin law that, logically, mustbebindingin bothits wordingandreasoning.SeeMarkman,517U.S
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1 consideredmorebroadly,this aspectofICU’s litigationofthe“spikeless”claims,though,

2 aggressiveandunsuccessful,still doesnotwarrantan awardoffees.

3 Thus,the“fair allocationoftheburdensof litigation” in this caserequiresthatAlaris be

4 awardedfeesunderSection285 relatingto its defenseagainstICU’s TROtHrequestandICU’s

5 assertionofthe“spike” claims. Periccone,432F.3dat 1380-81. While theCourt is reluctantto

6 penalizeaparty for vigorouslylitigating its claim constructions,ICU’s specificconstructionof

7 theterm“spike” wasfrivolous, entitlingAlaris to feesfor havingto litigate that termat claim

8 constructionas well. Otherwise,Alaris is not entitled to anyotherfeesor costsrelatingto claim

9 constructionor ICU’s litigation of the“spikeless”claimslater in thecase.

10

11 C. AnalysisUnder Rule 11

12 TheCourtbelievesthat Rule 11 sanctionsarewarrantedfor ICU’s filing oftheamended

13 complaint,asits assertionofthe“spike” claimswasobjectivelybaselessandcouldnot havebeet

14 theproductof acompetentandreasonableinquiry. For manyofthereasonsdiscussedaboveand

15 in theCourt’s CC OrderandSpikclessSJOrder,theassertionofthe“spike” claimslackedlegal

16 andfactualsupportsuchthatno objectivelyreasonableaftorneywouldbelievethat everyICU

17 claim limitation readon theAlaris productseitherliterally orunderthedoctrineofequivalents.

18 ViewEng ‘g, 208 F.3dat 986;Antoniousv. Spalding& EvenfloCompanies,Inc., 275 F.3d 1066,

19

20
at376-91 (finding: I) no evidenceof common-lawpracticeatthetime ofthe framingthatentailedapplicationof the

21 SeventhAmendment’sjury guaranteetotheconstructionof theclaim document;2) existingprecedentwasunclear
on whetherjuriesneededto decideclaim constructions;and3) therelativeinterpretiveskills ofjudgesandjuriesam

22 statutorypoliciesdictatedthatjudges,andnot juries,shouldconstrueclaimsasamatterof law). Interestingly,the
SupremeCourtrejectedanargumentsimilarto theoneICU advances,whenoneofthepartiesin Markinanargued

23 that a“jury shoulddecideaquestionof meaningpeculiarto atradeorprofessionsimplybecausethequestionis a
subjectof testimonyrequiringcredibility determinations,which arethejury’s forte.” Markinan,517U.S. at389.

24 To theextenta courtwasnowtaskedwith resolvingfactual issuestraditionallyreservedfor ajury, including
credibility, theSupremeCourt’s responsewas that “thereis sufficientreasonto treatconstructionof termsof artlike

25 manyotherresponsibilitiesthatwe cedetoajudgein thenormalcourseof thai, notwithstandingits evidentiary
underpinnings.”Id. at390. Otherwise,ICU’s theorygenerallychallengesthis Court’s adjudicationoffactualissues

26 like invalidity or infringementon summaryjudgment.But courtsare directedto do sounderthe law whenno
genuineissuesof factremain,evenin patentcaseswhereclaim constructionhasprecludedfurtheradjudicationof

27 certainfactualissues,especiallythemeaningof theassertedclaims. (See,e.g.,SpikelessSi Orderat 16 (citing caser
grantingsummaryjudgmenton thefactualissueof invalidity for lackof written description).)Thus,in light of

28 Markmanandnumerouscasesgrantingsummaryjudgmenton factualissuesafteran adverseclaim construction,
ICU’s “Constitutional tension”argumentappearswithoutmerit.
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1 1072(Fed.Cir. 2002). I

2 HE~
3 1. BackgroundofAIm-is’ Rule 11 Motion andICU’s Pre-LitigationInvestigation

4 Alaris filed its motionfor sanctionsunderRule 11 in September2005 in responseto

5 ICU’s assertionof the“spike” claimsin its amendedcomplaint. Alaris hadsoughtICU’s Rule

6 11 basisfor assertingthe“spike” claimsasearlyasSeptember2004,but ICU did not

7 satisfactorilyreply andcited theattorney-clientprivilege. Duringthemeet-and-conferthat

8 precededAlaris’ filing of theRule 11 Motion, ICU presentedits “dimensionalanalysis”and

9 constructionof a“spike” thatsoughtto justify theassertionofthe“spike” claims. This Court

10 ultimatelyrejectedthis sameflawed “dimensionalanalysis”andimproperconstructionof

11 “spike” in theCC Orderthat issuedtenmonthslater. Therefore,it is unsurprisingthat Alaris

12 wasunconvincedofthemerit of ICU’s early infringementanalysisusingthe“spike” claimsand

13 thatAlaris laterdecidedto pursuesanctionsin earnestin September2005.

14 Theeasedid not seean earlyresolutionofAlaris’ Rule 11 Motion for severalreasons.

15 Alaris arguesthat ICU initially avoidedfiling an oppositionto theRule ii Motion becauseICU

16 claimedit neededto investigatea “discoveredconflict” betweenAlaris’ counselandICU’s prior

17 counselat theFulwider firm. Despiteseveralmonthsof delayduringthis investigation,and

18 Alaris’ havingto file amotionto compelICU to participatein discovery,which wasgranted,

19 ICU nevermovedto disqualify Alaris’ counsel,promptingAlaris’ currentclaimsthatthis was

20 merelyadilatory tactic. Given thecomplexityofthefactssurroundingthis allegedconflict, the

21 Court is not convincedofICU’s improperorpurely dilatorymotivein desiringto investigateit.

22 ICU did eventuallyfile its oppositionto Alaris’ Rule 11 Motion in January2006,butthenthe

23 casewastransferredto this Court in February2006. This CourtstayedAlaris’ Rule 11 Motion

24 pendingtheoutcomeofMarkmanandsummaryjudgmenthearings.

25 In opposingAlaris’ Rule11 Motion in January2006,ICU provideda declarationby its

26 litigationattorney,S. ChristianPlatt (“Plan”), which furnishedsomeinformationregarding

27 ICU’s investigationprior t9 assertingthe“spike” claims. (SeeJan.23, 2006Decl.of S. Christian

28 Plan in Oppositionto Alaris’ Motion for Rule Ill Sanctions(“First PlanDccl.”).) ICU later
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1 augmentedthefirst declarationwith a secondoneby Planthatwasfiled in oppositionto A~aris’

2 FeesMotion, substantialpartsofwhich were filed in camera.(SeeMar. 19, 2007 Dccl. c~.

3 ChristianPlattin SupportofICU’s Oppositionto Alaris’ Motion for Attorney Fees,andMar. 19,

4 2007DecI. ofS. ChristianPlanAuthenticatingandAttachingCertainAttorney-ClientPrivileged

S And Attorney Work ProductProtectedMaterialsFor In CameraInspectionOnly in Oppositionto

6 Alaris’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees(collectively, the “SecondPlan Deci,”).) There were

7 numerousproblemsassociatedwith ICU’s submissionofthesetwo declarations,amongothers

8 recentlysubmitted,in oppositionto Alaris’ FeesMotion.

9 First, thepurposefor ICU’s submissionof theSecondPlan Declarationis indecipherable.

10 ICU vacillatesbetweenthreedifferentpurposesfor this declarationandits contents.Thecover

11 sheetoftheSecondPlanDeclarationstatesit is in supportofonly ICU’s Oppositionto Alaris’

12 FeesMotion. However,in its Oppositionbriefto theFeesMotion, ICU statesthatthe

13 declarationshouldbeusedto opposeboth Alaris’ FeesMotion andAlaris’ Rule11 Motion. (See

14 ICU Opp’n to Alaris’ FeesMot. at 5 n.6.) ICU thenaddsyet a third purposein its brief, which is

15 to opposeAlaris’ “challengingtheRule 11 basisof ICU’s original filing andits preliminary

16 injunctionapplication.” (Id.)

17 To theextentthat theSecondPlattDeclarationis meantto supplementtherecordfor

18 Alaris’ Rule 11 Motion, it isuntimely, astherecordfor that motionclosedin February2006.

19 The Courtindicatedasmuchin March2006whenit deniedICU’s requestfor supplemental

20 briefing on theRule 11 Motion andrejecteda“sur-reply” briefandassociatedmaterialsthat ICU

21 filed to augmenttheRule11 record. NotwithstandingtheCourt’s prior ruling, ICU now

22 resubmits,for thesecondtime, thevery samematerialsand“sur-reply” in theSecondPlatt

23 Declarationin arenewedattemptto expandtheRule 11 recordwhile ostensiblyclaimingit was

24 for thepurposeof opposingtheFeesMotion. TheCourt,again,rejectsICU’s untimelyattempt

25 to supplementtheRule 11 record. The SecondPlanDeclarationandassociateddeclarationsthat

26 ICU recentlysubmittedto theCourt in opposingAlaris’ FeesMotion maynotbe usedto oppose

27 Aim-is’ Rule 11 Motion.

28 Second,thesedeclarationsengagein a “selective” waiverof ICU’s attorney-client
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1 privilege, whetherin opposingAlaris’ FeesMotion or its Rule 11 Motion. It is axiomaticthata

2 partycannotusetheattorney-clientprivilege asa swordandashield. Fort JamesCorp. i~Solo

3 Cup Co., 412 F.3d 1340, 1349 (Fed. Cir. 2005)(“The waiver extends!beyondthedocum6nt

4 initially produced out ofconcern for fairness, sothat a partyis preventedfrom disclosing

5 communicationsthat supportits positionwhile simultaneouslyconcealingcommunicationsthat

6 do not.” (citing Weilv. Inv./Indicators,Research& Mgmt., Inc., 647 F.2d 18, 24 (9th Cir.

7 1981)). Alaris askstheCourt to disregardthematerialsin theFirstPlattDeclarationbecause

8 ICU assertedtheprivilege andrefusedto allow Alaris discoveryof ICU’s pre-filing investigation

9 materialsrelatingto its assertionofthe“spike” claims,but thenlater submittedthesematerials,

10 thoughtnot in camera,in opposingAlaris’ Rule11 Motion. This precludedAlaris’ meaningful

11 reviewanddiscoveryofthoseandrelatedmaterials.The Courtagreesthat this wasunfair, but

12 notesthat ICU wasnot requiredto revealprivilegedmaterialto Alaris in opposingtheRule 11

13 Motion, andAlaris wasableto engagein limited laterdiscoveryofsomeof thematerials.

14 The SecondPlattDeclaration,however,is moreproblematic,particularlyto theextentit

15 is intendedto opposeAllaris’ FeesMotion. 1CU submittedsubstantialpartsof it for in camera

16 reviewat theconclusionof thecase,therebycompletelyprecludingAlaris’ ability to review

17 thoseportions. Otherrelateddeclarationsanddepositionssubmittedby ICU in oppositionto

18 Alaris’ FeesMotion havesufficient redactionsor objections,backedby ICU’s assertionof

19 attorney-clientprivilege, suchthat Alaris couldnotreplyby engagingin meaningfulreviewor

20 discoveryoftheasserted,or related,materials.For example,ECU haswithheldthetime sheetso

21 certain litigationandpatentcounselaswell asportionsor versionsofthewritten description

22 analysissupportingtheassertedpatents,despitealluding to their existence.ElsewhereICU cites

23 to documentsthat“memorialized”its pre-suitinvestigation,but thesedocumentsaredatedafter

24 thelitigationbeganandICU hasrefusedto allow AIm-is to discoverthesupportingmaterialsfor

25 thosedocuments,including their actualcreationdates.

26 The Court previouslyvisitedthis issuein August2006and instructedICU that it could

27 not asserttheattorney-clientprivilegeduringfactdiscoveryandthenselectivelywaive the

28 privilegeat theconclusionofthecasein opposingamotionfor attorneyfees. ICU’s current
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1 selectivewaiverof theprivilege,madesufficiently late in thecaseto precludeanymeaningful

2 review ordiscoveryin response,ignorestheCourt’s prior instructionsandis plainly unfair to

3 Alaris. Even ICU admitstheunfairnessto Alaris posedby thesedelayedwaivers,saying

4 “there’s not much they can do.” (SeeMar. 27,2007 FeesMot. FTr’g Tr. 105:9.) Further,these

5 latewaiversareunjustified. For reasonsstill unknownto theCourt, ICU believedit couldwait

6 until theendoftheeaseto file attorney-clientprivileged materials,in camera,in opposing

7 Alaris’ Rule11 Motion. ICU hadclearnoticethatAlaris would bechallengingICU’s pre-

8 litigationdiligencein a Rule 11 Motion at leastasearlyasSeptember2005,whentheRule 11

9 Motion wasfiled. At that time,Alaris madeno secretthatit would likely seekfeesunder

10 Section285 for someofthesameconductchallengedunderits Rule 11 Motion. At minimum,

11 ICU hadsufficient opportunityto assertor waivetheattorney-clientprivilege anytime prior to

12 February2006,whentheRule 11 Motion’s recordclosed,or priorto February2007,whenthe

13 caseendedwith theCourt’s grantofAlaris’ secondrequestfor summaryjudgment.8ICU’s

14 assertionoftheprivilege now, at theendoftheease,is both unfair anduntimely.

15 Third, theFirst andSecondPlanDeclarations,evenwhenconsideredin wholeandwhen

16 combinedwith theotherdeclarationsECU submittedin oppositionto theRule 11 andFees

17 Motions,do not substantivelyjustify orexcuseICU’s litigation tacticsor showits good faith.

18 Thesedeclarationswerepreparedby ICU’s litigation counselfor thepurposeofopposingthe

19 Rule 11 andFeesMotions,andcomprisemostlyself-servingassertionsof good faithby

20

21
~ICU cites toanunpublisheddistrict courtcasefrom the SouthernDistrict of NewYork, which, in turn, relied on

22 theAdvisoryCommitteeNotesto Rule 11 togrant aparty’s requestto submitattorney-clientprivilegeddocuments
to the courtfor an in camerainspectionwithout revealingthemto theother side. SeeInt’l Bus. Counselors,inc. i’

23 BankofIkeda,Ltd., No. 89 Civ. 8373 (CSH),1991 WL 51173,at*lA2 (S.D.N.Y.Apr. 3, 1991)(“The notesof the
AdvisoryCommitteespecificallyrecognizethatRule 11 ‘doesnot requirea partyor anattorneyto disclose

24 privilegedcommunicationsorwork productin orderto showthatthesigningof the pleading,motionorotherpaper
issubstantiallyjustified.’ The Committeeidentifiesin camerainspectionby the Courtasanappropriatemannerof

25 dealingwith theissue.”). Here, ICU assertsprivilege for documentsusedto opposean attorneyfeesmotionmade
underSection285, therebyprecludingAlaris’ meaningfulreview anddiscoveryof, andresponseto, those

26 documents.Evenif someof thoseprivilegeddocumentsencompassevidenceor communicationsalsoaddressedby
Alaris’ Rule11 Motion, the Rule11 recordclosedin February2006. Otherwise,the CourtwarnedICU thatit could

27 not assertprivilege duringthediscoveryphaseof thecaseandthenselectivelywaive it attheconclusionof thecase
in an attemptto opposeAlaris’ impendingmotion for attorneyfeesunderSection285. Thus,wereICU’s timely

28 assertionof privilege for aRule11 motion thereal issue,theAdvisoryCommitteeNoteswould beof more
assistanceto theCourt.

-23-



Case :04-cv-00689-MRF-VBK Document 730 FUed 04/16/2007 Fage 24 of 27

1 interestedwitnesses,suchasICU’s CEO (Dr. GeorgeLopez),trial counsel(Fulwider,Pat,tgn,
I .J

2 Lee & Utecht;PaulHastings;orPooley& Oliver), patentcounsel(KnobbeMartens)andits paid

3 experts(Dr. MaureenReitmanandBob Rogers). Thesematerialslacktheindicia of cred~ility~

4 providedby declarationsoropinionsfrom outside,independentcounselorexperts,particularly

5 outsidepatent,asopposedto litigation, counsel.Most ofthematerialsappearto havebeen

6 “memorialized”in retrospect,providingmarginalsupportcomparedto, for example,an exante

7 documentedandvettedanalysisthat precededthelitigation or that,al minimum,precededthe

8 TRO/PIrequestandtheinclusion ofthe“spike” claims in theamendedcomplaint.

9 Themosthelpfi.il evidencecitedby thesematerialssuffersfrom reliability problems. For

10 example,ICU citesto aDecember1997 meeting,attendedbyboth aFulwiderandKnobbe

11 attorney,whereICU’s CEO claimsits counselfrom Fulwidcr opinedthattheAlaris SmartSite

12 Valve infringed the‘866 PatentandthatICU shouldassertits patentsagainstsmallercompanies

13 first. Theveracityofthis evidenceis complicatedby thefact that ICU terminatedits relationship

14 with theFulwiderfirm in 1999 andlater suedthefirm in 2004 for allegedconflictsin improperly

15 advisingAlaris’ predecessorandin workingwith Alaris’ counselin this case,from thefirm of

16 McAndrews,Held & Malloy, on arguablyrelatedmatters. However,in thesubsequent

17 malpracticecasebetweenICU andtheFulwiderfirm, theFulwiderattorneycited for giving the

18 informal 1997infringementopinion laterstatedit camefrom theKnobbeattorneyinstead,asthe

19 Fulwidcr attorneyclaimedhe wasunfamiliarwith theparticulartechnologyareaofthe ‘866

20 Patent. Concurrently,Alaris points to separatestatementsby ICU’s CEO that indicatethathe

21 did not rely on theKnobbefirm’s infringementopinionsconcerningthe‘866 Patent.The import

22 ofthis allegedinfringementopinion is furtherlessenedby thefact that ICU omittedthe‘866

23 Patentfrom theoriginal complaintandonly suedon the‘866 Patentin 2004afterthevalidity of

24 the ‘509 Patentwascritically questioned.ICU alsoappearsto havedisregardedtheadviceto sue

25 smallercompaniesfirst, asit suedAlaris in 2004only after it announcedthat it wasbeing

26 acquiredby themuchlargercompany,CardinalHealth. In total, theFulwiderfirm’s advice

27 remainsunclearandappearsto havehadlittle bearingon ICU’s actionsafter1999,or on its

28 specificlitigation strategyto pursuetheTRO/PI or to assertthe“spike” claimsin an actualsuit

-24-



Case :04~cv-00689~MRF-VBK Document 730 FUed 04/16/2007 Fage 25 of 27

I prior to 2004. Therefore,ICU’s citationto thedocumentsandanalysisin thePlattdeclarationsis

2 largelyunavailingin opposingbothAlaris’ Rule 11 andFeesMotions.

H
4 2. Rule 11 SanctionsareWarrantedfor ICU’s Assertionofthe“Spike” Claimsin th

5 AmendedComplaint

6 Alaris basesits Rule 11 sanctionsrequeston a combinationof ICU’s assertionof a

7 frivolous legal position(i.e.,ICU’s proposedconstructionofa“spike” asan “upwardprojection”

8 is frivolous), in violationof Rule 1 l(b)(2), andICU’s failure to makean adequatefactual

9 investigation before filing the amendedcomplaint, in violation ofRule 11 (b)(3). The Federal

10 Circuit hasconstruedRule 11, in the context ofpatent infringementactions,“to requirethat an

11 attorneyinterpretthepertinentclaimsofthepatentin issuebeforefiling a complaintalleging

12 patentinfringement.” Anton/us,275F.3d at 1072 (citing ViewEng~g,208 F.3dat 986). An

13 attorneymustnotrely solelyon theclient’s claim interpretationandmustperforman

14 independentanalysisto assertanonfrivolousclaimconstruction. Id.

15 Lookingat thematerialsreferencedin theFirstPlattDeclaration,submittedin opposition

16 to theRule 11 Motion in January2006,it appearsthat ICU’s counseldid analyzeandconstrue

17 the “spike” claimsprior to assertingthem in this case. Thereis nothingin thesematerialsthat

18 suggestsICU’s counselimproperlyreliedon theinventorfor its claim analysis. Thus, ICU may

19 be sanctionedfor violatingRule 11 (b)(2) only if areasonableattorneywouldhaveconcluded

20 that theclaim constructionproposedby theICU attorneyswasfrivolous. As theCourtstatedin

21 its claim constructionorderandits summaryjudgmentsordersfor boththe“spike” and

22 “spikeless”claims, ICU’s constructionof a“spike” asbeingmerelyan “upwardprojection”with

23 no pointedtip orpiercingfunctionwas frivolous. ICU’s constructionplainly defiedtheasserted

24 patents’claims,specificationanddrawingsandfound no extrinsicsupportin applicable

25 dictionariesor treatises.Thematerialsin thePlattDeclarations,includingits referencesto ICU’s

26 expert’smorpheddevicedrawingsandflawed “dimensionalanalysis,”do not rescuethis claim

27 constructionfrom beingfactuallyunsupportableor legallyunreasonable,butsimplymemorialize

28 what wasalwaysawholly unreasonableconstructionoftheterm“spike.”
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1 Second,undera properconstructionoftheclaims,an objectivelyreasonableattorney

2 couldnot concludethat theSmartSiteValves infringed theasserted“spike” claims,or thaitrevery

3 “spike” claim limitation readon theSmartSiteValve, eitherliterally orunderthedoctrine

4 equivalents.ViewEng’g, 208 F.3dat986. In evaluatingthequestionof infringement,ICU’s

5 counseldid disassembletheSmartSite Valve, analyzeandevaluateits structurewith expert

6 analysisanddocumentits findings. Perhapsthisdenotesazealouspre-filing investigation,but

7 not a reasonableone. At its mostbasiclevel, ICU’s counseldid not reasonablyconstruethe

8 meaningofthe“spike” elementanddid not reasonablycompareSmartSiteValve, which

9 possessesno “spike” element,with thepatentedICU devicesthatdo, thusmakinginfringement

10 impossible. ICU pointsto no pre-litigationevidencesupportingits allegationsof infringement

11 thatarenot somehowbasedon anunreasonableconstructionof the“spike” elementanda

12 defectivecomparisonofthe“spike” claimsto the SmartSite Valves.

13 Evenif someaspectsof theICU “spike” claimsdid readon theSmartSiteValves,

14 renderingvalid certainpartsoftheamendedcomplaint,thekey allegationthat theSmartSite

15 Valvespossesseda“spike” elementwasobjectivelyunreasonable.A reasonablereview ofthe

16 “spike” claimswouldhavedissuadedICU from assertingthem in theamendedcomplaint. This

17 critical fault in oneaspectoftheamendedcomplainttaintedit in its entiretyfor thepurposeof

18 awardingsanctions.The currentversionofRule 11 makesclearthat sanctionsmaybe basedon

19 a singleinvalid legalor factualtheory, evenif otherassertedtheoriesarevalid. SeeFed. R.Civ.

20 P. 1 1(c)(l)(A) (noting that apartymaybe sanctionedif any“challengedpaper,claim, defense,

21 contention,allegation,or denialis not withdrawnor appropriatelycorrected”). This is because

22 “[a]dvancingevenasingleinvalid theoryforcesthedefendantto respondandto do work it

23 shouldnothavebeenrequiredto do.” Antonius,275 F.3dat 1075.

24 Thus,Alaris is entitled to sanctionsunderRule 11 for ICU’s assertionofthe“spike”

25 claimsin theamendedcomplaint. However,themonetaryvalueofthesesanctionsis subsumed

26 by theattorneyfeestheCourt hasawardedunderSection285 elsewherein this Orderfor Alaris’

27 havingto litigate thesame“spike” claims.

28
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1 0. AnalysisUnderOtherStatutesor Doctrines

2 The Court believessanctionsunderotherstatutesordoctrines,thoughpossible,ard~

3 unnecessaryorduplicative. Specifically,sanctionswouldbe duplicativeunderSection1~
4 whichmerelytargetsspecificattorneysfor the samerecklessorbadfaith conductthatjustifies

5 sanctionsunderSection285 andRule 11 elsewherein this order. Sanctionsarenot necessary

6 undertheCourt’s inherentpower,becauseall ofICU’s inappropriateconductcan be addressed

7 by sanctionsunderSection285 andRule 11. SeeChambers,501 U.S. at SO (“[W]hen thereis

8 bad-faithconductin thecourseoflitigation that couldbeadequatelysanctionedunder[a statute

9 or] theRules,thecourtordinarilyshouldrely on the[statuteor] Rulesratherthantheinherent

10 power.”).

11

12 IlL

13 CONCLUSION

14 For theforegoingreasons,theCourtfinds that this caseis exceptionalandthat Alaris is

15 entitledto aportion of its requestedattorneyfeesunder35 U.S.C.§ 285. Alaris’ Motion for

16 Fees,CostsandExpensesunder35 U.S.C. § 285 is thusGRANTED IN PART. Alaris’ Motion

17 for SanctionsunderFed.R. Civ. P. 11 is GRANTED, butthesesanctionsaresubsumedby the

18 attorneyfeesawardedby this OrderunderSection285. Alaris is directedto recalculateand

19 resubmitits claim for theportionof its feesandcosts,asprovided andallocatedby this Order,

20 within seven(7) daysfrom thedateofthis Order. ICU will thenhaveten(10) daysto file any

21 opposition,andAlaris will be thenbegrantedan additionalfive (5) daysfor areply. The Court

22 will contactthepartiesto schedulea hearingregardingtheattorneyfeeamounts.

23

24 IT IS SOORDERED.

26 DATED:4i4Jf~,2t~ct7 &1~f~4~
27 UnitedStatesDistnctJudge

28
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